

Mentoring Toolkit

FOR STAFF, FACULTY, AND LEADERS INTERESTED IN BEING MENTORED



Mentoring Toolkit

Contents

Self-Discovery	1
Your Past Mentors	2
The Benefits of Being Mentored	3
Determining Your Needs	5
Summing It Up	7
Selection	9
Inviting a Mentor's Assistance	10
Transforming an Existing Relationship	12
Finding a Mentor	13
Ensuring a Good Fit	14
Success	15
Starting Points	16
Effective Partnering	18
Improving Key Communication Skills	20
Resolving Differences	22
Making the Moments Count	23
Ending the Relationship	24



MENTORING TOOLKIT

Self-Discovery

Your Past Mentors

Chances are you've had mentors in the past and might not have realized it at the time. This activity invites you to look back on your life to identify past mentors and reflect on the characteristics and behaviors that helped make the mentoring relationship successful.

To begin, think about teachers, coaches, counselors, friends, relatives, supervisors, and colleagues who influenced and advised you. Ask yourself:

- Who has had a unique and important impact on my life?
- If I hadn't met _____, would I have learned ____?

Now, focus on just a couple of the people who have come to mind. Complete the section below to better understand how your development has been enhanced by mentors (whether or not a relationship was officially recognized as mentoring). Use additional pages if needed.

What I did to make the most of the relationship

MENTOR'S NAME: _____

How mentor helped me

What characteristics mentor possessed that helped me grow

What I did to make the most of the relationship

The Benefits of Being Mentored

Following is a list of reasons for entering into a mentoring relationship. To better understand how a mentor may benefit you at this time, rate the importance of each for you.

	Not at All Important	Somewhat Important	Very Important
Learn from another person's vision, experience, and knowledge.	0	0	0
Obtain career advice and planning assistance.	0	0	0
Get more involved in things <i>inside</i> my organization.	0	0	0
Get more involved in things <i>outside</i> my organization.	0	0	0
Learn more about myself and develop my skills.	0	0	0
Gain assistance solving problems and changing my perspective.	Ο	0	0
Remain valuable to my organization.	0	0	0
Explore new ways to contribute to my organization.	0	0	0
Develop a new adult-to-adult partnership.	0	0	0
Build my self-confidence.	0	Ο	0
Have a "safe" person to bounce ideas off.	Ο	0	0
Increase my energy and interest in my work.	0	0	0
Become more comfortable in my organization.	0	0	0
Gain understanding about the organizational culture, appropriate behaviors, attitudes, and protocols.	0	0	0

Mentoring benefits and your development

This chart aligns the benefits of mentoring with specific growth areas, as shown below. To see how the benefits that are important to you align with these areas, for each benefit you rated as somewhat or very important, circle the checkmark and then tally your circled checkmarks.

	Assistance with my career goals	Broaden my perspective	Expand my network	Improve job performance and satisfaction	Self- development / personal growth
Learn from another person's vision, experience, and knowledge.	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark
Obtain career advice and planning assistance.	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark
Get more involved in things <i>inside</i> my organization.				\checkmark	
Get more involved in things <i>outside</i> my organization.		\checkmark	\checkmark		
Learn more about myself and develop my skills.					\checkmark
Gain assistance solving problems and changing my perspective.		\checkmark		\checkmark	
Remain valuable to my organization.				\checkmark	
Explore new ways to contribute to my organization.		\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Develop a new adult-to-adult partnership.			\checkmark		\checkmark
Build my self-confidence.					\checkmark
Have a "safe" person to bounce ideas off.		\checkmark		\checkmark	
Increase my energy and interest in my work.				\checkmark	\checkmark
Become more comfortable in my organization.				\checkmark	\checkmark
Gain understanding about the organizational culture, appropriate behaviors, attitudes, and protocols.		\checkmark		\checkmark	
CIRCLED CHECKMARKS					

Determining Your Needs

Having a better understanding of your needs may help you identify an appropriate mentor. Work through one or more of the questions below to help you reflect upon and articulate your needs.

Looking at the benefits you rated as "very important," as well as the growth areas they align with, reflect on what objectives or aspirations you might have for a mentoring relationship.

Looking at the benefits you rated as "somewhat important," as well as the growth areas they align with, is there additional value you might gain from a mentoring relationship?

Review your last performance evaluation; were there areas in which your supervisor felt you needed more development and expertise?

Read job descriptions or postings for positions you aspire to hold in the next three to five years. What skills do you have already? What skills/experiences do you need to develop to be qualified for these positions?

List three basic needs that you have in your current position (e.g., less stress, more responsibility, more challenge, more respect).

Think about what you enjoy in your current situation (job or otherwise)? What's missing?

Summing It Up

Looking over the worksheets you've completed, summarize what you've discovered so far.

My past mentor(s) proved valuable to me because

Mentoring would benefit me right now because

My immediate needs and long-term objectives include

TIP: IF YOU'RE NOT A LEADER AND DON'T ASPIRE TO A LEADERSHIP POSITION, YOUR MENTOR DOES NOT NEED TO BE A LEADER. INSTEAD, YOU MAY WANT TO CONSIDER A MORE EXPERIENCED COLLEAGUE TO ACT AS A PEER-TO-PEER MENTOR.

Based on what I've discovered, I should look for a mentor (circle all that apply):

IN MY CURRENT FIELD

IN THE FIELD I ASPIRE TO

IN MY DEPARTMENT / SCHOOL AT UW BUT OUTSIDE MY DEPARTMENT / SCHOOL

OUTSIDE THE UW

I ALREADY KNOW AND TRUST I'M FAMILIAR WITH BUT WOULD LIKE TO KNOW BETTER I HAVE YET TO MEET OR KNOW

WHO CAN HELP GUIDE MY CAREER CHOICES WHO CAN OFFER NEW INSIGHTS AND PERSPECTIVES

WHO CAN ACT AS A SOUNDING BOARD

WHO CAN HELP ME GROW PERSONALLY AND PROFESSIONALLY

WHO CAN HELP ME IN MY CURRENT JOB WHO CAN HELP ME ADVANCE TO MY NEXT JOB



MENTORING TOOLKIT

Selection



Inviting a Mentor's Assistance

Because mentoring is typically a voluntary activity on the part of the mentor, it is important that you think carefully and intentionally about what you want from a mentor.

What most mentors are looking for from a mentoring relationship:

- A sense that they are helping someone achieve their goals and making a difference in another person's life.
- An occasional "thank you" or acknowledgement of the assistance they are providing.
- An enjoyable relationship.

What you can do to invite initial and ongoing interest from someone to serve as your mentor:

- Know what you need and want from the relationship.
- Have clearly defined objectives.
- Identify problems that might be obstacles to reaching your objectives.
- Give thought to and be able to articulate how you think a mentor could assist you.
- Think about how you might reach your objectives with or without a mentor.
- Be purposeful and pleasant, and have challenging goals.
- Don't take advantage of a mentor's goodwill, position, or confidential information.

Mentoring relationships can take on many different forms, as shown in the diagram on the following page. Before you approach a mentor, consider what type of mentoring relationship best suits your current needs and situation. Keep in mind that a mentor is not always someone higher up in the hierarchy or organization; peer-to-peer mentoring may be an effective route.

Types of Mentoring Relationships

Highly Structured, Formal

HIGHLY STRUCTURED / SHORT TERM

The relationship is formally established for an introductory or short period, often to meet specific organizational objectives. For example, a new employee may be paired with a senior person for an organization's orientation.

INFORMAL / SITUATIONAL / SHORT TERM

This type of off-the-cuff mentoring ranges from oneshot or spontaneous help to occasional or as-needed counseling. There may be no ongoing relationship. This type of intervention is often heavily change-oriented.

HIGHLY STRUCTURED / LONG TERM

Often used for succession planning, this relationship involves grooming someone to take over a departing person's job or to master a craft. Alternatively, it may focus on helping an individual plan and achieve their career goals.

INFORMAL / LONG TERM

Friendship mentoring consists of being available as needed to discuss problems, to listen, or to share special knowledge.

Peer-to-peer mentoring may fall into this category but may also be more formal. Long Term

Informal

Another way to think about types of mentors is with the following roles identified by The Graduate School at Duke University:

- Advisers have career experience and are willing to share their knowledge.
- Supporters offer emotional and moral encouragement.
- **Tutors** give specific feedback on performance.
- Masters help students and others continue their school or discipline's legacy.
- Sponsors act as resources and may help with obtaining opportunities.
- Models of identity provide an idea of the future for students and are admirable role models.

Source: https://gradschool.duke.edu/professional-development/mentoring/what-mentor

Transforming an Existing Relationship

A mentoring relationship may emerge when you have an immediate need and a mentor is there to assist you. You may already be engaged in a mentoring relationship that has not been formalized as such, or you may be hoping to take an existing personal or professional relationship to a new level.

Keep in mind that mentoring requires going the extra mile for someone else. If you are hoping to transform an existing relationship into a mentorship, you should be prepared for the potential mentor's response:

YES	MAYBE	NO
Be ready to express your appreciation for your mentor's time and consideration. Be sure to follow the	The potential mentor may need to know more about what you hope to achieve, what the time commitment may be like, or other factors.	Understand that mentoring is a commitment. The person you asked may not have the time or may not feel they're a good fit for you.
steps on page 14 to ensure a good fit.	If you've done your homework (including completing the worksheets in this guide), you should be able to provide information that will help the potential mentor make a more informed decision.	Although it may be appropriate to ask why your request has been declined or if the person can refer you to another potential mentor, be sure to keep your interactions polite and pleasant. Don't force an explanation or response.

Finding a Mentor

If you don't have a mentor in mind, there are a number of ways that you can find a potential mentor.

Research

Do some research to identify people who are leaders in their field. Reading UW Today and local newspapers and visiting the UW website are great ways to start learning about potential mentors at the UW.

If you're more interested in finding a mentor outside of the UW, again refer to local newspapers (particularly the business section and northwest life section) and the web.

Network

Networking is an easy and fun way to meet other people in a variety of settings. Simply put, networking is an intentional effort to be at the right place at the right time to meet the right people. Below is a list of places and events where you find good networking opportunities.

- University-wide events, lectures, receptions, etc., that are open to UW employees or to the public
- LinkedIn and other online networks
- Local events and lectures
- Professional organization meetings and events
- Volunteer opportunities

Ask for Help

In addition to "putting yourself out there," seek the assistance of someone who knows a lot of people or knows the person you wish to have mentor you. Find out from them the best way to connect with potential mentors or even ask them to help with the initial introduction.

Let people know that you are looking for a mentor, and articulate the type of person you are hoping to build a relationship with. You'll be surprised how willing others are to help you get connected with the right people. Your department's HR administrator might be a good resource.

Start a Departmental Mentoring Program

You are more than likely not the only person in your unit interested in mentoring. You might want to talk with your supervisor about the possibility of starting a departmental mentoring program.

Ensuring a Good Fit

One of the most important tasks to perform in building and maintaining a productive relationship with a mentor is to be very clear with them about what you expect and need. Any relationship can flounder if there are unstated needs and expectations that are not being met. No mentor can meet all of your needs, and it is crucial to give a mentor the opportunity to clarify what needs they can meet.

As a mentee, it's up to you to explicitly articulate your expectations to your mentor and engage in a conversation about whether those needs and expectations are realistic and appropriate.

Some examples of expectations and assumptions might be:

- My mentor will help me get a promotion, find a new job, etc.
- My mentor will give me clear advice about what I should do in a situation.
- My mentor will act as a safe and confidential sounding board.
- My mentor will teach me _____ skill(s).
- My mentor will introduce me to _____ and _____.

Take some time now to jot down your expectations of and assumptions about your mentor.

Have you shared your expectations with your existing or potential mentor? What was the result?



MENTORING TOOLKIT



Starting Points

The checklists below will help ensure you and your mentor get off to a good start.

Understanding what's required

There are certain behaviors that could be considered requirements on the part of the mentee and the mentor in a mentoring relationship, including:

- □ Taking initiative and risks
- □ Accepting each other
- □ Agreeing upon and working toward specific goals
- Dealing effectively with unmet expectations or objectives

Preparing for your first meeting

Along with working through this toolkit, think about the following for your first meeting:

- □ Your goals
- □ Your background (how have you gotten to where you are now?)
- □ What you hope to get from the relationship
- □ What you have to offer
- **Questions for your mentor**

TIP: IF YOU DON'T HAVE A PRESSING NEED OR QUESTION, ASK YOUR MENTOR QUESTIONS ABOUT THE LESSONS LEARNED IN THEIR CAREER.

Establishing norms

Whether you are in a formal, informal, or situational mentoring relationship, it's important to establish norms, or guidelines, for how the relationship will work. Doing this up front can help avoid needing to resolve differences later on. Both you and your mentor should give some thought to the norms you'd like to establish, have an open discussion about them, and come to an agreement. Some things to consider:

- □ How often will you meet, and for how long each time?
- □ How you will communicate between meetings?
- □ Where or how will you meet (in person at a particular location or via a video chat service such as Skype or FaceTime)?
- □ What will you do if a meeting has to be canceled or rescheduled?
- □ How will sensitive information be dealt with?

Building a Successful Relationship

There are several ways you can contribute to a productive relationship with your mentor:

- Be willing and able to let your mentor know what you need.
- Be clear with your needs. Don't beat around the bush—your mentor's time is valuable.
- □ Feel comfortable with your mentor.
- □ Trust your mentor and be open with them.
- □ Be ready and willing to develop and change.

Research has shown that effective relationships have similar factors upon which they are built, including:

- Mutual respect
- □ Acceptance and flexibility
- □ Honesty and direct communication
- □ Preparation
- Commitment
- □ Some shared values
- Trust
- □ Willingness to work through obstacles

SEE THE FOLLOWING PAGES FOR TIPS ON FEELING MORE CONFIDENT WITH YOUR MENTOR AND BUILDING AN EFFECTIVE PARTNERSHIP.

Effective Partnering

Mentoring is often thought of as a partnership largely because there are obligations, implicit or otherwise, that each party takes on. One key to a successful relationship with your mentor is to be aware of your obligations and take them seriously.

What obligations might you take on as a mentee?

What challenges might arise for you in relation to these obligations?

How can you partner with your mentor to meet your obligations to them?

Building Trust

A mentoring relationship is based on trust. As a mentee, you are placing a great deal of trust in your mentor to provide you with helpful guidance. At the same time, mentors are trusting that mentees will not take advantage of the relationship (e.g., wasting your mentor's time, repeating information not intended for others, asking for favors, inappropriately using the relationship). Building trust can take time; our behaviors can accelerate the time it takes.

What behaviors might help you quickly establish trust with your mentor? What behaviors might impede trust?

Finding Your Comfort Zone

Although peer-to-peer mentoring may be a good option for you, many mentoring relationships pair a mentee with a high-level or prominent leader. Research has shown that these relationships are sometimes slow to develop because the mentee is often uncomfortable with their mentor. Mentees reported that they were afraid to make mistakes or appear vulnerable in front of their mentors; they had trouble viewing their mentors as partners and they considered their own problems and needs as insignificant.

A reluctant or hesitant mentee can be frustrating to a mentor, particularly a mentor who is high-level or prominent, so it's important that you develop techniques to become comfortable early on.

Most of us can become more comfortable in almost any situation by being prepared. Some ideas for preparing for your mentoring relationship include:

- □ Having a written list of questions before each meeting
- □ Preparing a concrete set of goals and objectives for your mentoring relationship
- Visualizing conversations between your mentor and you as if you've known them for a long time
- □ Researching your mentor's background
- □ Preparing conversation points

Remember, if you don't work in or aspire to a leadership position, being mentored by a leader or someone higher up in the organization isn't essential. You may feel more comfortable with, and get more out of, being mentored by a peer or colleague whom you respect and who has more experience than you.

Reciprocating the Relationship

Mentors are volunteers; they do not expect to get paid. They do, however, want to receive some satisfaction from the relationship. In a recent survey, mentors listed what they hoped to receive from a mentoring relationship. One response stood out above all others. Mentors hoped to make "an important, long-lasting, positive change in another person's life, something that would help their mentees move forward into their future."

The only way that mentors can know how they're doing is if mentees tell them. What you have to offer your mentor is your appreciation and an explanation of the impact the relationship has had on your current and future success.

Improving Key Communication Skills

Asking Questions

The basis of a mentoring relationship is imparting information from one person to another. Left to chance, a mentee will get the information, advice, or guidance that the mentor wants to give, or thinks is helpful, which may be enough in many cases. However, since the relationship is primarily for the mentee's benefit, being able to ask for what you want, need, and are curious about is an important skill for mentees. High-quality questions can help you get what you really want from your mentor and make the best use of the time you spend with them.

Journalists have long known the key questions to ask to elicit missing or vital information. Use these to prompt productive questions or as a starting point for developing inquiries for your mentor.



Practice

You have been given a lead from your mentor about an opportunity to serve on a committee that you would love to be involved in. Using the journalist's questions as a starting point, write down at least three quality questions to ask your mentor.

1.	
2.	
3.	

Listening Skills

The best questions in the world are useless unless you can actively listen for the information that will be helpful to you.

Here are four points to bear in mind to help you listen:

- **Listen for central ideas.** Listen for ideas that your mentor repeats and provides examples of. Typically, when an idea or concept is core to us, we will repeat and expound upon it to ensure another person understands us.
- **Determine what is of personal value to you in your mentor's conversation.** Once you've identified the central idea, consider how it applies to you. This will help reinforce the learning, since you can now better identify with your mentor's message.
- Identify and eliminate as many of your "trigger" words as possible. Almost everyone has certain words that cause an emotional reaction. These emotional reactions can cause us to get off track in our listening and our thinking. To combat these reactions, become familiar with your trigger words. Keep track of your next few conversations to see what words or phrases trigger an emotional reaction in you. Give some thought as to why those words trigger those reactions. Once you've identified those words and phrases, you can be more conscious when you hear them, and you'll find it easier to maintain attention and concentration when you do.
- Learn to keep pace—speed of thought vs. speed of speech. Most people can think five to six times faster than another person can talk. Regardless of how interested we are in the speaker, this difference in pace of thought and speech often results in daydreaming or mind-wandering on the part of the listener. Consider ways you can stay engaged when your mind starts to wander.

What can you do to become a better listener?

Resolving Differences

There are disagreements or misunderstandings in any relationship, and a mentoring relationship is no different. Keeping in mind that mentoring relationships are partnerships, it's important to accept that you have a right to express yourself when you want to make adjustments to the mentoring relationship. However, it's just as important to make sure that you resolve differences appropriately, professionally, and respectfully.

Some examples of differences that might crop up in a mentoring relationship include:

- Getting advice or guidance that you don't agree with. Instead of arguing with your mentor or just ignoring the advice, approach the situation with a sense of curiosity. Ask yourself and/or your mentor questions about the advice. For example: "That suggestion doesn't feel right, but I'm not sure why," or "My situation doesn't seem quite right for that idea. Can we talk about what doesn't fit and why?"
- Your mentor doesn't show up for an appointment you had scheduled and didn't call or message you. This is another time for curiosity. Instead of saying "You missed our meeting yesterday," approach your mentor with the goal of finding out information rather than blaming.
 "I had put on my calendar that we were meeting yesterday. Did I get confused?"
- It feels like your mentor is telling you what you should do, rather than letting you solve your own problems. Often, mentors feel that giving advice is what they're supposed to do and is what is expected of them. You can help your mentor build their mentoring skills by articulating what you expect of them up front. You might say something like this: "I have a situation at work that I'd like to talk to you about. I have some ideas of how to approach it, and I'm hoping you can listen to my ideas and ask me questions to help me get to the right solution."

Remember that you might be able to avoid some frustration or misunderstandings by setting clear expectations from the start. For instance, let your mentor know up front if you don't expect them to know all the answers and instead are looking forward to having someone you can bounce ideas off of and who will help you solve your own problems.

Making the Moments Count

Unless we reflect upon our experiences, we can miss out on the gems in the time we spend with our mentor. Writing a summary of your meeting or keeping a mentoring journal is one suggestion for capturing and remembering the lessons you learn through this important relationship. Here is one format for doing so:

DATE: _____

What did you and your mentor talk about today?

What were the key takeaways? What did you learn?

How might you apply what you heard or learned today?

TIP: YOU MAY WANT TO SHARE YOUR SUMMARY WITH YOUR MENTOR AND ASK FOR THEIR FEEDBACK. ASK THEM—AS WELL AS YOURSELF—IF THERE'S ANYTHING ELSE YOU'VE LEARNED THROUGH THE MEETING.

Ending the Relationship

There will come a time when you no longer have needs to be met by your mentor. Ending the mentoring relationship well is important to your continued success—first impressions and last impressions are what we remember most about others. Make your last impression a positive one.

Here are some tips for ending your mentoring relationship on a positive note:

- Be clear about why you want to end the relationship. If you've achieved your goals—celebrate! Let you mentor know how they have helped you, and show your appreciation.
- If you're ending the relationship for other reasons, let your mentor know what the reason is. Perhaps the relationship is not moving you forward and you'd like to spend time engaging in other professional development activities.
- Regardless of the reason why you'd like to end the relationship, it's important to give your mentor clear feedback about what they might do differently and what they did well.

Remember a mentoring relationship is not like a marriage or other permanent commitment; the goal is to help you move forward in your career and life goals. If this is not occurring and you do not see adjustments that can be made in the relationship to meet your goals, then you should end it respectfully and honestly.

Regardless of how successful the relationship has been, be sure to thank the mentor for the time they have invested.